First meeting of African Ministers of Health jointly convened by the AUC and WHO

Luanda, Angola, 16–17 April, 2014

2014

AFRICAN UNION UNION AFRICAINE UNIÃO AFRICANA





CONTENTS

		Paragraph
1.	SUMMARY REPORT	1-37
	OPENING OF THE MEETING	1-7
	ELECTION OF OFFICE BEARERS (CHAIRPERSON, VICE-CHAIRPERSONS AND RAPPORTEURS)	8-9
	TERMS OF REFERENCE FOR THE CONDUCT OF THE AUC-WHO BIENNIAL MEETING OF AFRICAN MINISTERS OF HEALTH <mark>(AUC/WHO/2014/Doc.8)</mark>	10-11
	VOLUME 1: REPORT OF THE EXPERTS MEETING (AUC/WHO/2014/Doc.7)	12
	UNIVERSAL HEALTH COVERAGE IN AFRICA: FROM CONCEPT TO ACTION (AUC/WHO/2014/Doc.1)	13-15
	AFRICAN MEDICINES AGENCY: SETTING MILESTONES TOWARDS ITS ESTABLISHMENT (AUC/WHO/2014/Doc.2)	16-19
	NONCOMMUNICABLE DISEASES IN AFRICA: POLICIES AND STRATEGIES TO ADDRESS RISK FACTORS (AUC/WHO/2014/Doc.3)	20-22
	ENDING PREVENTABLE MATERNAL AND CHILD DEATHS IN AFRICA (AUC/WHO/2014/Doc.4)	23-25
	ESTABLISHMENT OF AN AFRICAN CENTRE FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION (AUC/WHO/2014/Doc.5)	26-28
	ACCOUNTABILITY MECHANISM TO ASSESS THE IMPLEMENTATION OF COMMITMENTS MADE BY AFRICAN MINISTERS OF HEALTH (AUC/WHO/2014/Doc.6)	29-32
	DATES AND PLACE OF THE SECOND MEETING OF AFRICAN MINISTERS OF HEALTH JOINTLY CONVENED BY THE AUC AND WHO	33
	CONSIDERATION AND ADOPTION OF THE SUMMARY REPORT (AUC/WHO/2014/Doc.9)	34
	CLOSURE OF THE MEETING	35-37



¹ Note: REPORT OF THE EXPERTS' MEETING (AUC/WHO/2014/Doc.7) IN VOLUME 2

		Page
2.	COMMITMENTS	13-26
	AUC-WHO/COM.1/2014: COMMITMENT ON UNIVERSAL HEALTH COVERAGE IN AFRICA	13
	AUC-WHO/COM.2/2014: COMMITMENT ON AFRICAN MEDICINES AGENCY- SETTING MILESTONES TOWARDS ITS ESTABLISHMENT	15
	AUC-WHO/COM.3/2014: COMMITMENT ON NONCOMMUNICABLE DISEASES IN AFRICA - POLICIES AND STRATEGIES TO ADDRESS RISK FACTORS	17
	AUC-WHO/COM.4/2014: COMMITMENT ON ENDING PREVENTABLE MATERNAL AND CHILD DEATHS IN AFRICA	19
	AUC-WHO/COM.5/2014: COMMITMENT ON ESTABLISHMENT OF AN AFRICAN CENTRE FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION	21
	AUC-WHO/COM.6/2014: COMMITMENT ON ACCOUNTABILITY MECHANISM TO ASSESS THE IMPLEMENTATION OF COMMITMENTS	23
	AUC-WHO/COM.8/2014: COMMITMENT ON TERMS OF REFERENCE FOR THE CONDUCT OF THE AUC-WHO BIENNIAL MEETING OF AFRICAN MINISTERS OF HEALTH	25
3.	SOLIDARITY MOTION	27
4.	LUANDA DECLARATION	29
5.	AGENDA	31
6.	PROGRAMME OF WORK	33
7.	OPENING SPEECHES	35-44
	OPENING STATEMENT BY H.E. DR. MUSTAPHA S. KALOKO, COMMISSIONER FOR SOCIAL AFFAIRS, AT THE OPENING OF THE FIRST MEETING OF AFRICAN MINISTERS OF HEALTH JOINTLY CONVENED BY THE AUC AND WHO- LUANDA, 16 APRIL 2014	35
	ADDRESS BY THE WHO REGIONAL DIRECTOR, DR LUIS G. SAMBO, AT THE OPENING OF THE FIRST MEETING OF AFRICAN MINISTERS OF HEALTH JOINTLY CONVENED BY THE AUC AND WHO- LUANDA, 16 APRIL 2014	37
	SPEECH DELIVERED BY THE VICE-PRESIDENT OF ANGOLA, ENGINEER DOMINGOS MANUEL VICENTE, AT THE OPENING CEREMONY OF THE 1ST MEETING OF AFRICAN MINISTERS OF HEALTH - LUANDA, 16 APRIL 2014	41
8.	LIST OF PARTICIPANTS	45



1. SUMMARY REPORT

OPENING OF THE MEETING

- 1. The First Meeting of African Ministers of Health jointly convened by the AUC and WHO was held in Luanda, Angola, from 16 to 17 April 2014. The meeting was officially opened by the Vice-President of the Republic of Angola, His Excellency Engineer Domingo Manuel Vicente, on behalf of His Excellency Engineer José Eduardo dos Santos, President of the Republic of Angola, on Wednesday, 16 April 2014. Among those present at the opening ceremony were cabinet ministers and members of the Government of the Republic of Angola; ministers of health and heads of delegation of Member States of the African Union and the WHO African Region; the WHO Regional Director for Africa, Dr Luis Gomes Sambo; the Commissioner for Social Affairs of the African Union Commission, Dr Mustapha Kaloko; members of the diplomatic corps; and representatives of United Nations agencies and nongovernmental organizations.
- 2. The Minister of Health of the Republic of Angola, Honourable Dr José Vieira Van-Dúnem, welcomed the national authorities and the delegates to the Ministerial Meeting and wished them successful deliberations.
- 3. The Federal Minister of Health of Nigeria and Chair of the 6th Conference of African Ministers of Health (CAMH6), Honourable Professor Onyebuchi Chukwu, in his statement, conveyed the greetings of the President, the Government and the people of the Federal Republic of Nigeria to the meeting. He recalled that Nigeria was elected Chair of the CAMH6 and in that capacity commended the AUC and WHO for jointly convening the landmark ministerial meeting for the first time ever. Professor Chukwu appreciated the work of WHO in supporting Member States to address issues of public health importance. He reminded the delegates of important milestones such as the Abuja +12 Summit and the International Conference on Maternal and Child Health held in South Africa as well as previous World Health Assembly sessions during which the common position of Africa on global health issues had been at the forefront through the coordination and facilitating roles of WHO and the AUC. He stressed the need for African Ministers of Health to push for health to be at the core of the post-2015 development agenda to ensure that the unfinished agenda related to the MDGs is carried forward.

- 4. In his address, the WHO Regional Director for Africa, Dr Luis Gomes Sambo, thanked the Vice-President of the Republic of Angola for graciously honouring the meeting with his participation in the opening ceremony. He asked him to convey the best wishes of WHO to His Excellency the President of Angola for his leadership and to thank him for his effective support to the efforts to improve health in Africa in general and in Angola in particular, and for the contribution and generous support of the Government and people of Angola for the organization of the Ministerial Meeting. Dr Sambo stated that the meeting was historic as it was the first time the AUC and WHO had jointly organized a meeting of African Ministers of Health, thus providing a new platform for improved synergies in the collaboration between the two organizations for the betterment of the health of the people of Africa.
- 5. Dr Sambo reminded the meeting of the progress made in addressing health issues in the African Region, including increasing life expectancy, reduction in child and maternal mortality rates, and decline in the incidence of communicable diseases such as malaria, HIV and TB. He, however, added that noncommunicable diseases were on the rise while the continent still continued to experience outbreaks of diseases such as the ongoing Ebola Haemorrhagic Fever (VHF) epidemic in some West African countries. He informed the meeting that WHO was supporting the countries affected by the Ebola outbreak to contain the epidemic in order to mitigate and prevent the attendant loss of life and the social and economic consequences. Dr Sambo stressed the need for Member States to strengthen their disease surveillance systems by implementing the International Health Regulations (2005) in order to promote global health security. He called on Member States to continue investing more in health systems and pay the necessary attention to the post-2015 health agenda in order to move towards Universal Health Coverage.
- 6. The African Union Commissioner for Social Affairs, Dr Mustapha Sidiki Kaloko, in his statement, conveyed the greetings of the Chairperson of the African Union Commission to the meeting. Dr Kaloko commended the combined efforts of the AUC and WHO in implementing the decision by the African Union Heads of State and Government to jointly organize the 1st African Ministers of Health meeting in order to synergize efforts for health development on the continent. He went on to reiterate the AUC's commitment to supporting its Member States to achieve the continental health goals as access to good health was a fundamental human right and a requirement for social and economic development. He stressed that the thematic areas on the agenda of the meeting resonate well with the priorities of the continent. He commended the AUC and WHO for tackling the salient and complex health issues responsible for the high disease burden in Africa. The Commissioner used the



opportunity to launch the campaign on Neglected Tropical Diseases (NTDs) in Africa under the theme "Now is the time to control and eliminate NTDs in Africa" with a target date of 2020. The Commissioner stated that the campaign on NTDs was within the spirit of shared responsibility and global solidarity for Africa.

7. In opening the Ministerial Meeting on behalf of the President of the Republic of Angola, Engineer José Eduardo dos Santos, the Vice-President of the Republic of Angola, His Excellency Engineer Domingo Manuel Vicente, thanked the AUC and WHO for accepting Angola's offer to host the historic inaugural meeting of Ministers of Health jointly organized by the two organizations. He welcomed the delegates to Angola on behalf of the President of the Republic of Angola. The Vice-President stated that the several years of peace and stability in his country had resulted in improvements in health indicators. He therefore called on Member States to avoid war and conflict situations as these lead to destruction, undue suffering, loss of life, increase in the population of orphans and delays in human development. The Vice-President called for harmonized efforts by Member States and partners to deal with the many health challenges facing the continent. He welcomed the choice of important health topics that would be discussed during the meeting and stated that, given the commonalities in health challenges and health systems in Member States, the meeting would serve as a good platform for the ministers and delegations to share experiences and come up with specific solutions to promote human development and equity on the continent. The Vice-President expressed support for the creation of the African Centre for Disease Control and Prevention and then, on behalf of the President of the Republic of Angola, declared the Ministerial Meeting officially open.

ELECTION OF OFFICE BEARERS (CHAIRPERSON, VICE-CHAIRPERSONS AND RAPPORTEURS)

8. The meeting elected the following office bearers:

Chairperson:	Honourable Dr José Vieira Van-Dúnem
	Minister of Health,
	Angola

Vice-Chairperson: Dr Mohamed S. B. Ammar Minister of Health, Tunisia

3

Vice-Chairperson:	H. E. Mr Désiré Bosson Assamoi Côte d'Ivoire Ambassador to Angola, Luanda
Rapporteurs:	Hon. Sarah Achieng Opendi Minister of State, Primary Health Care, Uganda (English)
	Prof. Fidèle Mengué Me Engouang Minister of Health, Gabon (French)
	Dr Alexandre Manguele Minister of Health, Mozambique (Portuguese)
	Dr Mohamed Abugalia Director of Health Protection Department, National Centre for Disease Control Lybia (Arabic)

9. The Honourable Minister of Health of Angola, Dr José Van-Dúnem, thanked the delegates for electing him as Chairperson of the Ministerial Meeting.

TERMS OF REFERENCE FOR THE CONDUCT OF THE AUC-WHO BIENNIAL MEETING OF AFRICAN MINISTERS OF HEALTH (AUC/WHO/2014/DOC.8)

10. The WHO Regional Director for Africa introduced the document on the proposed terms of reference for the conduct of the AUC-WHO biennial meeting of African Ministers of Health. The ministers expressed the need to reduce the number of continental meetings of African Ministers of Health and suggested to have one annual gathering organized jointly by the AUC and WHO in the spirit of "one Africa". The ministers recognized that this would have legal, political and diplomatic implications due to differences in the composition of Member States, the governance structures of the AUC and WHO and the decision taken by the January 2014 Heads of State summit to organize the joint biennial meetings.



11. The ministers decided that within a transitional period not exceeding two years, the WHO Regional Committee and the AU Conference of African Ministers of Health would be organized back to back every year. They requested the AUC and WHO to work together to propose ways of addressing issues that may arise in the process of implementing the above recommendation to be re-addressed by the Ordinary Session of Heads of State and Government.

REPORT OF THE EXPERTS' MEETING (AUC/WHO/2014/DOC.7)

12. In presenting the Report of the Experts' Meeting, Dr Jane Ruth Aceng, Director-General of Health Services, Ministry of Health, Uganda, stated that the Experts Meeting was held from 14 to 15 April 2014. That meeting deliberated on seven working documents and six draft commitments all on the topics to be discussed during the Ministerial Meeting. For each of the topics, the report highlighted the key challenges facing Member States and made key recommendations for action. The Experts Meeting also recommended specific "Draft Commitments" on each of the six topics for consideration and adoption by the Ministerial Meeting.

UNIVERSAL HEALTH COVERAGE IN AFRICA: FROM CONCEPT TO ACTION (AUC/WH0/2014/DOC.1)

- 13. The meeting reviewed the relevant sections of the Report of the Experts' Meeting and the draft Commitment on Universal Health Coverage (UHC) recommended by the experts for the ministers' consideration. The ministers commended the Secretariat and the experts for the quality of the documents presented. It was generally agreed that UHC had become very topical in the recent past and that it was critical for Member States to move towards UHC in order to respond to the health needs of the people. The meeting underscored the need for countries to learn from the several experiences on the continent that could inform and accelerate progress towards achieving UHC in order to enhance access and equity. Learning from the experience of several countries, the meeting reiterated that a multisectoral approach was necessary in implementing strategies towards UHC.
- 14. The issue of setting a continental target or country-specific targets for achieving UHC was discussed. Some countries urged caution in setting a continental target because attaining UHC was a process and countries were at different stages. However, the meeting decided



that a target year of 2025 should be set for Member States to put in place the necessary structures and processes to move towards UHC because setting a continental target would galvanize Member States to accelerate action.

15. The draft commitment on Universal Health Coverage in Africa was then adopted with amendments. The ministers committed themselves to improving health outcomes and contributing to tackling poverty by increasing the coverage of health services, developing or improving comprehensive policies and strategies for health systems, and promoting prepayment and pooling mechanisms in collaboration with other sectors. The AUC and WHO were requested to support African countries to develop their health financing mechanisms in order to move towards and sustain UHC.

AFRICAN MEDICINES AGENCY: SETTING MILESTONES TOWARDS ITS ESTABLISHMENT (AUC/WH0/2014/DOC.2)

- 16. The meeting reviewed the relevant sections of the Report of the Experts' Meeting and the draft Commitment on the establishment of the African Medicines Agency (AMA). The ministers underscored the importance of establishing the AMA and the role it would play in enhancing the regulatory environment and improving access to quality medical products. They acknowledged that several initiatives for harmonizing the regulation and legislation of pharmaceutical products were ongoing at country and subregional levels and that these would contribute to an enabling environment for improving local production of medical products and for timely establishment of the AMA.
- 17. The meeting then highlighted the need to define the scope of the medicines or medical products that would be covered by the work of the AMA. It was suggested that the definition of scope be extended to cover Traditional Medicine as this was the first point of call for a large proportion of the people. The ministers also called for the promotion of a conducive environment for local production of quality medicines for the treatment of priority diseases in Africa. The need to adopt a multisectoral and multicountry approach to control and monitor the flow/circulation of medicines was emphasized.
- 18. The ministers agreed to establish a task team that would facilitate the implementation of the milestones set for the establishment of the AMA and recommended that the team learn from the subregional experiences in medicines regulation.



19. The draft commitment on the establishment of the AMA was adopted with amendments. The ministers committed themselves to its establishment and requested the AUC and WHO, in collaboration with relevant stakeholders, to establish a task team with due attention to regional representation and the skills required for this purpose.

NONCOMMUNICABLE DISEASES IN AFRICA: POLICIES AND STRATEGIES TO ADDRESS RISK FACTORS (AUC/WH0/2014/D0C.3)

- 20. The meeting reviewed the relevant sections of the Report of the Experts Meeting and the draft Commitment on noncommunicable diseases. The ministers observed that an increase in tobacco trade and consumption, harmful use of alcohol, physical inactivity and unhealthy diet had contributed to a rapid rise in NCDs. They expressed concern that despite the increasing trends, many governments in Africa were unable to meet the ever-expanding needs for legislation, policies and regulatory frameworks (e.g. Framework Convention on Tobacco Control) that protect populations and individuals from exposure to the risk factors of NCDs. Concern was also expressed about the impact of harmful emissions/smoke from cooking stoves particularly in rural settings, leading to inadvertent and simultaneous inhalation by mothers, often carrying babies on their back.
- 21. The ministers emphasized the need to address the full scope of NCDs as highlighted in various frameworks that provide technical approaches for tackling NCDs holistically and their risk factors including noncommunicable conditions such as violence and injuries, mental health, sickle-cell disease and trauma. It was reiterated that the increasing attention required of Member States in the fight against NCDs should not be at the expense of communicable diseases.
- 22. The draft commitment on NCDs was adopted with amendments. The ministers committed themselves to ensuring that the prevention and control of NCDs and their risk factors are given the prominence they deserve. The AUC, WHO and relevant stakeholders were requested to support resource mobilization and capacity strengthening efforts of countries.

ENDING PREVENTABLE MATERNAL AND CHILD DEATHS (AUC/WH0/2014/DOC.4)

- 23. The Ministers of Health reviewed the relevant sections of the report of the Experts' Meeting and the draft commitment on ending preventable maternal, newborn and child deaths in Africa. They recognized that all African countries are making efforts to accelerate the reduction of maternal and child mortality towards the attainment of MDGs 4 and 5, and many countries have best practices that could be documented and shared. They also recognized that according to the 2013 Maternal Mortality estimates, only four countries in Africa Cape Verde, Equatorial Guinea, Eritrea and Rwanda had achieved the MDG5 target. The ministers highlighted the importance of nutrition in improving maternal and child survival. They also emphasized the importance of improved transportation, use of communication technologies, effective community participation and men's involvement in maternal health and child survival. In addition, they highlighted the need to invest in the development of human resources for health and the place of routine vaccination and adolescent health in the survival of mothers, newborns and children.
- 24. The meeting expressed concern about the fragmentation of regional and global initiatives on maternal, newborn and child health and called upon the AUC and WHO to work together with countries to improve the coordination and harmonization of these initiatives. The meeting also underscored the need to strengthen the surveillance of maternal deaths and timely response, to institutionalize maternal and perinatal death reviews, including community maternal death review, and to improve systems to effectively and regularly measure the progress made towards the attainment of country, regional and global targets.
- 25. The draft commitment on ending preventable maternal, newborn and child deaths was adopted with amendments. The ministers committed themselves to ensuring that the health of women and children in Africa is guaranteed through the full implementation of policies, strategies and initiatives that promote the reduction of preventable maternal, newborn and child deaths, namely by ensuring an integrated package of essential maternal, newborn and child health interventions and services including nutrition. They requested AUC to work with relevant partners to fast-track the resourcing and implementation of the "Mama Afrika" award.



ESTABLISHMENT OF AN AFRICAN CENTRE FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION (AUC/WH0/2014/DOC.5)

- 26. The Ministers of Health reviewed the relevant sections of the report of the Experts Meeting and the draft commitment on the establishment of an African Centre for Disease Control and Prevention (ACDCP). The meeting recalled that in decision Assembly/AU/Dec.499 (XXII) of the 22nd Ordinary Session of the AU Assembly in January 2014, the Heads of State and Government requested the AU Commission to work out the modalities of establishing the ACDCP in collaboration with the Government of Ethiopia and other interested Member States and to submit a report to the Assembly by January 2015, setting forth, among other things, the legal, structural and financial implications of the establishment of the Centre.
- 27. The meeting agreed that ACDCP would be a reference centre to support and coordinate the work of national institutions, and that its establishment should be guided by the several country and subregional experiences on Centres of Excellence. The meeting also agreed that a task force comprised of the AUC, WHO, the Government of Ethiopia and interested Member States would define the modalities and map out a roadmap for the establishment of the ACDCP including its legal structure and the financial implications. The meeting took note of the fact that several Member States Benin, Democratic Republic of Congo, Gabon, Ghana, Kenya, Libya, Nigeria, Rwanda, Tunisia, Uganda, United Republic of Tanzania, Zambia and Zimbabwe had expressed interest in becoming members of the task force. It was agreed that these countries would be considered by the AUC in establishing the task force, taking into consideration geographic representation and the expertise required.
- 28. The draft commitment on the establishment of an African Centre for Disease Control and Prevention was adopted with amendments. The ministers committed themselves to implementing the related AU decision and establishing a multinational task force to define the modalities and map out a roadmap for the establishment of the ACDCP. The AUC and WHO agreed to support the establishment of the ACDCP.

9

ACCOUNTABILITY MECHANISM TO ASSESS THE IMPLEMENTATION OF DECLARATIONS AND OTHER COMMITMENTS MADE BY AFRICAN MINISTERS OF HEALTH (AUC/WHO/2014/DOC.6)

- 29. The Ministers of Health reviewed the relevant sections of the report of the Experts Meeting and the draft commitment on the establishment of an accountability mechanism to assess the implementation of declarations and other commitments made by African Ministers of Health. The ministers strongly welcomed the proposal to establish an accountability mechanism as it would contribute to improving the effectiveness, efficiency, impact and sustainability of commitments made by African Ministers of Health.
- 30. The ministers discussed the scope, the structure and the regularity of the reports to be prepared in implementing the accountability mechanism. They underscored the need for adequate support from central government and partners and for collaboration with other sectors and stakeholders to facilitate the implementation of the commitments. The ministers suggested that all the commitments and declarations be posted on the web sites of ministries of health, AUC and WHO to facilitate dissemination and institutional memory.
- 31. The draft commitment on the establishment of an accountability mechanism to assess the implementation of declarations and other commitments made by African Ministers of Health was adopted with amendments. The ministers committed themselves to adhering to the timeline set for implementation of commitments, to monitor the progress of implementation and to report regularly on the progress made. The AUC and WHO were requested to support monitoring of the implementation of the commitments made and to report regularly to subsequent joint meetings of African Ministers of Health.
- 32. Following the discussion of the agenda item on accountability mechanism, the "Luanda Declaration issued by the first African Ministers of Health meeting jointly convened by the AUC and WHO" was discussed. It was then adopted with amendments.

DATES AND PLACE OF THE SECOND MEETING OF AFRICAN MINISTERS OF HEALTH JOINTLY CONVENED BY THE AUC AND WHO

33. The Ministers of Health decided that the second meeting of African Ministers of Health jointly convened by AUC and WHO will be held in April 2016 in Tunisia.



CONSIDERATION AND ADOPTION OF THE SUMMARY REPORT (AUC/WH0/2014/DOC.9)

34. The Summary Report of the Ministerial Meeting (Document AUC/WHO/2014/Doc.9) was adopted with amendments. This was followed by a discussion and adoption of a motion of solidarity with the people of West Africa affected by the outbreak of Ebola haemorrhagic fever.

CLOSURE OF THE MEETING

- 35. In his closing remarks, the WHO Regional Director for Africa, Dr Luis Sambo, expressed his gratitude to the Government of Angola and to the Angolan Inter-Ministerial Team that provided support for the successful conduct of the 1st meeting of African Ministers of Health jointly convened by the AUC and WHO. Dr Sambo underscored the commitment of WHO and the AUC to work together in a synergetic manner at the political and technical levels in order to help move forward the African development agenda. Referring to the meeting's adoption of a motion of solidarity with the people of West Africa affected by the outbreak of Ebola haemorrhagic fever, the Regional Director thanked all the countries and organizations that had so far contributed to the management of the epidemic. He called on all countries in the Region to strengthen their surveillance and laboratory systems and to take all appropriate measures to prevent and control further epidemics.
- 36. The AU Commissioner for Social Affairs, Dr Mustapha Kaloko, in his closing statement, thanked the honourable ministers of health for turning up in large numbers and for their active participation to make the historic meeting a success. He also thanked the Government of Angola for its support for the meeting. He urged WHO and the AUC to effectively manage the transitional period in line with the decision of the Ministers of Health to have one AUC-WHO Ministers of Health meeting per year.
- 37. In closing the meeting, the Honourable Minister of Health of the Republic of Angola, Dr José Vieira Van-Dúnem, thanked the ministers for their contributions towards the success of the meeting. He called on the ministers to continue to address the numerous health challenges facing the continent. He then officially declared the meeting closed.



2. COMMITMENTS

AUC-WHO/COM.1/2014

13 🔰

COMMITMENT ON UNIVERSAL HEALTH COVERAGE IN AFRICA

We, the African Ministers of Health attending the first meeting jointly convened by the African Union Commission and World Health Organization, in Luanda, Angola;

- 1. *Noting* that Universal Health Coverage (UHC) is defined as ensuring that all people can use the needed promotive, preventive, curative, rehabilitative and palliative health services of adequate quality to be effective, while also ensuring that the use of these services does not expose the user to financial hardship;
- 2. *Concerned* that out-of-pocket health expenditure contributes to increasing poverty at household level;
- 3. *Concerned also* that in countries where health services have been accessible and affordable, governments are finding it increasingly difficult to respond to the evergrowing health needs of the populations and the increasing costs of health services;
- 4. *Noting* that UHC in Africa may not be realised unless a multisectoral approach is taken so that shortfalls in agricultural production, education, regulation of the practice of traditional medicine, insufficient access to safe water, inadequate sanitation, weak health systems, and on-going conflicts, all driving the disease burden, are adequately addressed;
- 5. *Noting* that there remains a vicious cycle in which poverty and its determinants worsen the burden of disease, while ill-health contributes to poverty and that investment in health systems strengthening contributes to human development;

Hereby collectively and individually:

- I. **COMMIT** to putting in place, by 2025, the necessary structures and processes to move towards UHC;
- II. **ALSO COMMIT** to improving health outcomes by contributing to tackling poverty by increasing the coverage of health services, developing and improving comprehensive policies and strategies for health systems, promoting prepayment and pooling mechanisms, in collaboration with other sectors, to cover the entire population, and advocating for the implementation of public equity funds to cover the health costs of the poor and vulnerable; as well as monitoring and evaluating progress towards UHC;
- III. REQUEST THE AUC AND WHO IN COLLABORATION WITH RELEVANT STAKEHOLDERS to support African countries to develop their health financing mechanisms in order to move towards and sustain UHC, support the documentation and sharing of experiences and intensify efforts to mobilize governments and partners to scale up investment in human resources, the upgrading of infrastructure and equipment, production, procurement and supply of quality and safe medical products and health technologies;
- IV. **REQUEST THE AUC AND WHO** to submit a progress report to the next meeting of African Ministers of Health.



AUC-WHO/COM.2/2014

COMMITMENT ON THE AFRICAN MEDICINES AGENCY: SETTING MILESTONES TOWARDS ITS ESTALISHMENT

We, the African Ministers of Health attending the first meeting jointly convened by the African Union Commission and World Health Organization, in Luanda, Angola;

- 1. *Recalling* the various World Health Assembly resolutions and the AU Heads of State and Government decision on the Pharmaceutical Manufacturing Plan for Africa (PMPA) that give a high priority to the quality, safety, efficacy and affordability of medicines, including blood products;
- 2. *Further recalling* the declaration of the African Heads of State and Government— Assembly/AU/Decl.2 (XIX)—that endorsed the "African Union Roadmap on Shared Responsibility and Global Solidarity for AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria Response in Africa and supported the harmonization of medicines regulatory systems as a foundation for the establishment of a single medicines regulatory agency in Africa, as well as the recommendations made by the WHO Regional Committee for Africa at its Sixtieth and Sixty-third sessions to strengthen the capacity for regulation of medical products in the African Region and establish the African Medicines Agency (AMA);
- 3. *Welcoming with appreciation* the contributions of WHO, the New Partnership for Africa's Development (NEPAD) and partners in supporting Regional Economic Communities and Member States to strengthen their medical products regulatory systems through implementation of the African Medicines Regulatory Harmonization initiative within the framework of the PMPA;

Hereby collectively and individually:

1. **COMMIT OURSELVES:** to the establishment of the AMA; to prioritize investment for regulatory capacity development; to pursue the efforts towards convergence and harmonization of medical products regulation in Regional Economic Communities (RECs); to endorse the proposed milestones for its establishment; and to allocate adequate resources for the operationalization of the AMA;



- II. **REQUEST THE AUC AND WHO IN COLLABORATION WITH THE RELEVANT STAKEHOLDERS:** to establish a task team that will facilitate the implementation of the agreed milestones with due regard to regional representation and skills required to meet the mandate;
- III. **REQUEST THE AUC:** to seek substantive support from Heads of State and Government because of the institutional and financial implications and report to the meetings of African Ministers of Health on the progress made in the implementation of the agreed milestones.



AUC-WHO/COM.3/2014

17

COMMITMENT ON NONCOMMUNICABLE DISEASES IN AFRICA: POLICIES AND STRATEGIES TO ADDRESS RISK FACTORS

We, the African Ministers of Health attending the first meeting jointly convened by the African Union Commission and World Health Organization in Luanda, Angola;

- 1. *Deeply concerned* that Africa has been experiencing growing adverse health and social economic consequences due to the double burden of communicable and noncommunicable diseases;
- 2. *Recalling* the declaration on the outcome of the Sixth Session of the AU Conference of African Ministers of Health held under the theme "The Impact of Noncommunicable Diseases (NCDs) and Neglected Tropical Diseases (NTD) on Development in Africa;" which recognizes the alarming burden of both death and disability from NCDs in Africa;
- 3. *Noting* the Political Declaration of the High-level Meeting of the United Nations General Assembly on Prevention and Control of NCDs (resolution 66/2), and the WHO Global Action Plan for the Prevention and Control of NCDs 2013–2020 (Document WHA 66/9);
- 4. *Recognizing* that inadequate numbers of health workers are an impediment to the full implementation of resolutions and declarations related to NCDs and their risk factors;

Hereby collectively and individually:

1. **COMMIT** to ensuring that prevention and control of NCDs and their risk factors are given the prominence they deserve and that the WHO global action plan for the prevention and control of NCDs 2013–2020 is fully implemented through the National NCD multisectoral plans, and mobilizing resources, both domestic and external, including the use of innovative financing;

- II. **FURTHER COMMIT** to protecting public health policies from interference by vested interests of the alcohol, tobacco and food industries through comprehensive legislation and enforcement of national laws and policies;
- III. **UNDERTAKE** to advocate to our governments for ministerial level representation at the 2014 United Nations General Assembly Comprehensive Review and Assessment of the progress achieved in the prevention and control of NCDs and to call for further action through a concise action-oriented outcome document;
- IV. **REQUEST** the AUC and WHO and relevant stakeholders to support resource mobilization efforts and strengthening of countries' capacity for prevention and control of NCDs and their risk factors, as well as human resource development.



AUC-WHO/COM.4/2014

COMMITMENT ON ENDING PREVENTABLE MATERNAL AND CHILD DEATHS IN AFRICA

We, the African Ministers of Health attending the first meeting jointly convened by the African Union Commission and World Health Organization in Luanda, Angola;

- 1. *Recognizing* that maternal and child health are fundamental for social and economic development in Africa;
- 2. *Deeply concerned* about the persistence of avoidable deaths and disabilities of women during pregnancy, childbirth and the postpartum period, and newborn and child deaths aggravated mainly by poverty and armed conflicts;
- 3. *Noting with concern* that the prevalence of various forms of malnutrition in children under five years of age remains very high in some countries of the Region and continues to increase;
- 4. *Noting with appreciation* the progress made in implementing the various global and African Union initiatives including the United Nations Secretary General's Global Strategy on Women and Children's Health, the Campaign for Accelerated Reduction of Maternal Mortality in Africa (CARMMA), the Global Vaccine Action Plan, the African Union Plan of Action Towards Ending Preventable Maternal, Newborn and Child Mortality and WHO Regional Committee resolutions pertaining to women and children's health and development, and the report of the Commission on Women's Health in the African Region entitled Addressing the challenge of women's health in Africa;
- 5. *Taking note of* the decision [Assembly/AU/Dec.494 (XXII)] of the African Union Assembly to establish the "Mama Afrika" award in recognition of the significant contribution or action of individuals, organizations and governments in Africa towards ending preventable maternal, newborn and child mortality.



Hereby collectively and individually:

- I. **COMMIT** to ensuring that the health of women and children in Africa is guaranteed through the full implementation of policies, strategies and initiatives towards elimination of preventable maternal, newborn and child deaths;
- II. **COMMIT** to ensuring access to an integrated package of essential maternal, newborn and child health and nutrition interventions and services. Further commit to investing in human resources for health and contributing to addressing the critical social, behavioural, economic and environmental determinants of health especially girls' education and gender equality, including women's empowerment and male participation towards eliminating preventable maternal, newborn and child deaths by 2035;
- III. **COMMIT** to accelerating the implementation of the African Union plan of action towards ending preventable maternal, newborn and child deaths and the recommendations of the report on Addressing the Challenge of Women's Health in Africa;
- IV. **COMMIT** to declaring Africa polio-free by 2018;
- V. **COMMIT** to implementing maternal deaths surveillance and timely response, and also documenting and sharing country best practices on reproductive, maternal, newborn and child health;
- VI. **REQUEST THE AUC AND WHO, IN COLLABORATION WITH RELEVANT STAKEHOLDERS,** to support Member States in implementing interventions and monitoring progress towards the attainment of MDGs 4 and 5 by 2015 and beyond, and **further request the African Union Commission** to report to the meeting of African Ministers of Health jointly convened by the AUC and WHO on the progress made towards ending preventable maternal, newborn and child deaths;
- VII. **CALL UPON THE AUC** to work with relevant partners to fast-track the resourcing and implementation of the "Mama Afrika" award.



AUC-WHO/COM.5/2014

21

COMMITMENT ON THE ESTABLISHMENT OF AN AFRICAN CENTRE FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION

We, the African Ministers of Health attending the first meeting jointly convened by the African Union Commission and World Health Organization in Luanda, Angola;

- 1. *Noting with concern* that communicable and noncommunicable diseases are significant contributors to preventable morbidity and mortality in Africa and that Africa continues to be challenged by frequent natural and man-made emergencies, often leading to disasters;
- 2. *Concerned* that challenges still remain in addressing disease prevention and control such as limited infrastructure and human capacities, weak disease surveillance and laboratory investigation services as well as delayed and inadequate preparedness and response to health emergencies and disasters;
- 3. *Recognizing* the need for the accountability framework for health security and hence protecting citizens of Africa and beyond;
- 4. *Recognizing* the role of such establishment in the promotion of solidarity, social cohesion, harmony and sustainable socioeconomic development, beyond public health protection;
- 5. *Recalling* the decision of the special summit on HIV, TB and Malaria declaration in July 2013, in which the Heads of State and Government requested the AU Commission to work out modalities of establishing an African Centre for Disease Control and Prevention; and decision Assembly/AU/Dec.499 (XXII) in which the Assembly stressed the urgency to establish the Centre;

Hereby collectively and individually:

- I. **COMMIT** to the implementation of AU Decision Assembly/AU/Dec.499 (XXII) that stresses the urgency of establishing the African Centre for Disease Control and Prevention (ACDCP) while taking cognizance of the existing regional centres of excellence;
- II. **COMMIT** to the creation of a multinational task force by May 2014 to define the modalities and work out the roadmap for the establishment of the ACDCP, including the legal structural and financial implications relating to the Centre;
- III. **REQUEST** the AUC and WHO, in collaboration with relevant stakeholders, to provide technical support towards the establishment of the ACDCP.



AUC-WHO/COM.6/2014

COMMITMENT ON ACCOUNTABILITY MECHANISM TO ASSESS THE IMPLEMENTATION OF COMMITMENTS MADE BY AFRICAN MINISTERS OF HEALTH

We, the African Ministers of Health attending the first meeting jointly convened by the African Union Commission and World Health Organization in Luanda, Angola;

- 1. *Mindful* of the increasing number of meetings and conferences involving African Ministers of Health across the continent of Africa and beyond and the commitments undertaken at these meetings;
- 2. *Concerned* about the challenges faced in implementing the commitments made at these various meetings; and recognizing the need to identify these challenges and provide solutions in order to accelerate implementation;
- 3. *Recognizing* the need to develop an accountability mechanism to monitor and accelerate the implementation of decisions and resolutions;
- 4. *Calling upon* relevant development partners and stakeholders at national, regional and continental levels to provide committed, sustained, and aligned support to countries, including resource mobilization, in order to achieve Africa's health commitments;

Hereby collectively and individually:

- I. **COMMIT** to establish an assessment committee composed of representatives of the AUC, WHO and experts/institutions of Member States;
- II. **COMMIT FURTHER** to adhere to the timeline that has been set for implementation of commitments; sensitize and create awareness with line ministries and other stakeholders, and cooperate with the assessment committee;
- III. AFFIRM our commitment to report, through the assessment committee, to the



subsequent joint meetings of African Ministers of Health;

IV. **REQUEST** the AUC and WHO to monitor the implementation of relevant commitments through a matrix with timeline and evaluation indicators posted on appropriate web sites and report back at subsequent joint meetings of African Ministers of Health.



AUC-WHO/COM.8/2014

COMMITMENT ON THE TERMS OF REFERENCE FOR THE CONDUCT OF THE AUC-WHO BIENNIAL MEETING OF AFRICAN MINISTERS OF HEALTH

We, the African Ministers of Health attending the first meeting jointly convened by the African Union Commission and World Health Organization in Luanda, Angola;

Having considered the document on Terms of Reference for the conduct of the AUC-WHO biennial meeting of African Ministers of Health;

CALL UPON THE AUC and WHO, in consultation with Member States, to initiate a process of transition towards undertaking only one annual main gathering of African Ministers of Health;

DECIDE to deliberate on the Terms of Reference for the Conduct of the AUC-WHO Biennial Meetings of African Ministers of Health on the occasion of its 2nd meeting in order to incorporate the outcomes of the consultation process.





3. SOLIDARITY MOTION

SOLIDARITY MOTION ON CONTROL OF THE EBOLA EPIDEMIC IN WEST AFRICA

- 1. We, the African Ministers of Health attending the first meeting jointly convened by the African Union Commission (AUC) and the World Health Organization (WHO) in Luanda, Angola, from 14 to 17 April 2014;
- 2. In response to the current epidemic of Ebola Haemorrhagic Fever in some West African countries;
- 3. **EXPRESS** our sympathy and solidarity with all West African countries especially Guinea and Liberia;
- 4. **EXPRESS ALSO** our gratitude to WHO for providing prompt support in diverse forms to the affected countries;
- 5. **COMMEND** the governments of countries that have sent experts to the countries affected by the epidemic;
- 6. **REQUEST** the World Health Organization to continue to provide support to countries in the area of epidemic preparedness and response;
- 7. **REQUEST** African countries to take the measures required in accordance with the International Health Regulations (2005).





4. LUANDA DECLARATION

LUANDA DECLARATION ISSUED BY THE FIRST MEETING OF AFRICAN MINISTERS OF HEALTH JOINTLY CONVENED BY THE AUC AND WHO

We, the African Ministers of Health met in Luanda, Angola, from 16 to 17 April 2014 at a historic first meeting jointly convened by the African Union Commission (AUC) and World Health Organization (WHO);

- **Considering** the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the AUC and the WHO adopted by the World Health Assembly and signed in July 2012 which aims at strengthening collaboration between the two institutions and supporting their respective Member States in the development and maintenance of effective health systems in accordance with their respective mandates;
- **Noting** the recommendations of the 6th Session of the Conference of African Ministers of Health in 2013 that was endorsed by the African Union Assembly in January 2014 to convene such a meeting;

Having deliberated substantively on the following key issues of critical concern: Universal Health Coverage in Africa: from concept to action; African Medicines Agency: setting milestones towards its establishment; Noncommunicable diseases in Africa: policies and strategies to address risk factors; Ending preventable maternal and child deaths in Africa; Establishment of an African Centre for Disease Control and Prevention; and Accountability mechanism to assess the implementation of declarations and commitments;

- 1. **Note with satisfaction** the progress made in the field of health in recent years and recognize the myriad of challenges confronting public health services and hampering progress towards the desired goal of inclusive human development of the continent;
- 2. **Reaffirm** our determination to make concrete efforts to use more robust and multisectoral approaches towards the realisation of our joint commitments;

29

- 3. **Commit** to effective implementation of the six (6) commitments adopted during our meeting, specifically on Universal Health Coverage; African Medicines Agency; Noncommunicable Diseases in Africa; Ending Preventable Maternal and Child Deaths in Africa; Establishment of an African Centre for Disease Control and Prevention; and Accountability mechanism to assess the implementation of declarations and commitments;
- 4. **Request** the AUC and WHO in collaboration with relevant stakeholders to support the implementation and facilitate monitoring and evaluation of these commitments, and report to subsequent joint meetings;
- 5. **Express** our brotherly solidarity with the Republic of Guinea and other West African countries affected by the epidemic of Ebola Haemorrhagic Fever and commit to providing all the support needed to control the outbreak;
- 6. **Recommend** that the AUC and WHO, in consultation with the Heads of State, initiate a process aimed at holding only one African Ministers of Health gathering every year.
- 7. **Decide** that the second AUC and WHO Joint Meeting of African Ministers of Health will take place in Tunis, Republic of Tunisia, in April 2016;
- 8. **Express our appreciation** to the Government and people of the Republic of Angola for hosting and sponsoring the meeting.



5. AGENDA

AUC/WHO/2014/MOH/AGENDA 16 April 2014

MINISTERIAL MEETING

Luanda, Republic of Angola, 16–17 April 2014

ORIGINAL: ENGLISH

- 1. Opening of the meeting
- 2. Election of Office Bearers (Chairperson, Vice-Chairperson and Rapporteurs)
- 3. Terms of Reference for the conduct of the AUC-WHO biennial meeting of African Ministers of Health (AUC/WHO/2014/Doc.8)
- 4. Report of the Experts' meeting (AUC/WHO/2014/Doc.7)
- 5. Universal Health Coverage in Africa: from concept to action (AUC/WHO/2014/Doc.1)
- 6. African Medicines Agency: setting milestones towards its establishment (AUC/WHO/2014/Doc.2)
- 7. Noncommunicable diseases in Africa: policies and strategies to address risk factors (AUC/ WHO/2014/Doc.3)
- 8. Ending preventable maternal and child deaths in Africa (AUC/WHO/2014/Doc.4)
- 9. Establishment of an African Centre for Disease Control and Prevention (AUC/WHO/2014/Doc.5)
- 10. Accountability mechanism to assess the implementation of commitments made by African ministers of health (AUC/WH0/2014/Doc.6)
- 11. Consideration and adoption of summary report and Commitments (AUC/WHO/2014/Doc.9)
- 12. Dates and place of the 2nd meeting of African Ministers of Health jointly convened by the AUC and WHO
- 13. Closure of the meeting.





6. PROGRAMME OF WORK

AUC/WHO/2014/MOH/POW 16 April 2014

MINISTERIAL MEETING

Luanda, Republic of Angola, 16–17 April 2014

ORIGINAL: ENGLISH

33 〉

DAY 1: Wednesday, 16 April 2014

08:00-10:30	Agenda item 1	Opening of the meeting
10:30-11:00	Agenda item 2	Election of Office Bearers (Chairperson, Vice- Chairperson and Rapporteurs)
11:00-11:30	Agenda item 3	Terms of Reference for the conduct of the AUC-WHO biennial meeting of African Ministers of Health (AUC/WHO/2014/Doc.8)
11:30-12:30	Agenda item 4	Report of the Experts' meeting (AUC/WHO/2014/Doc.7)
12:30-14:00	Lunch break	
14:00-15:00	Agenda item 5	Universal Health Coverage in Africa: from concept to action AUC/WHO/2014/Doc.1); and draft Commitment
15:00-16:00	Agenda item 6	African Medicines Agency: setting milestones towards its establishment (AUC/WHO/2014/Doc.2); and draft Commitment
16:00-16:30	Tea break	
16:30-17:30	Agenda item 7	Noncommunicable diseases in Africa: policies and strategies to address risk factors (AUC/WHO/2014/Doc.3) and draft Commitment
17:30	End of the day's session	on
19:00	Reception hosted by the Government of the Republic of Angola	

DAY 2: Thursday, 17 April 2014

08:30-09:30	Agenda item 8	Ending preventable maternal and child deaths in Africa (AUC/WHO/2014/Doc.4); and draft Commitment
09:30-10:30	Agenda item 9	Establishment of an African Centre for Disease Control and Prevention (AUC/WHO/2014/Doc.5); and draft Commitment
10:30-11:00	Tea break	
11:00-12:00	Agenda item 10	Accountability mechanism to assess the implementation of commitments made by African ministers of health (AUC/WHO/2014/Doc.6); and draft Commitment
12:00-15:00	Lunch break	
15:00-16:00	Agenda item 11	Consideration and adoption of summary report and Commitments (AUC/WH0/2014/Doc.9)
16:00-16:15	Agenda item 12	Dates and place of the 2nd meeting of African Ministers of Health jointly convened by the AUC and WHO
16:15	Closure of the meeting	



7. OPENING SPEECHES

ORIGINAL: ENGLISH

35

OPENING STATEMENT BY H.E. DR. MUSTAPHA S. KALOKO, COMMISSIONER FOR SOCIAL AFFAIRS, AT THE OPENING OF THE FIRST MEETING OF AFRICAN MINISTERS OF HEALTH JOINTLY CONVENED BY THE AUC AND WHO- LUANDA, 16 APRIL 2014

- His Excellency, Vice-President of the Republic of Angola, Eng. Manuel Domingos Vicente,
- Honourable Ministers of Health,
- His Excellency, Regional Director of the World Health Organization
- Distinguished Delegates,
- Ladies and Gentlemen

It is an honour and privilege to address this first meeting of African Health Ministers. May I thank all the Honorable Ministers, your delegations and the observers for your presence here this morning. Special thanks go to the Government and people of the Republic of Angola for agreeing to host the event and the warm hospitality accorded to us.

You may recall that this first meeting came as a recommendation of the 6th Ordinary Session of the African Union Conference of Ministers of Health held in Addis Ababa in April 2013, and was reiterated by the AU Heads of State and Government Summit that was held in January this year.

The African Union remains committed to working with its Member States and partners such as the WHO to enhance the health status and quality of life of the continent's inhabitants and this is in recognition of the importance and centrality of health to sustainable development.

Excellencies, Distinguished Delegates,

When you consider the agenda placed before this conference, it responds to Africa's current challenges.

The burden of non-communicable Diseases is currently rising in Africa and indeed, it is the time for all relevant stakeholders to comprehensively address this issue. Changing lifestyles across the continent is gradually leading to increased incidence of obesity, diabetes, hypertension and other related ailments including malignant lesions. We therefore have an opportunity to decide on the way forward on this matter in this conference.

Access to health is another challenge on our continent. Therefore, by looking at Universal Health Coverage, our conference is responding to the issue at hand. The African Union believes that access to health is fundamental for our continent's development. You may also be aware that some resolutions of our meeting go unimplemented for various reasons. This is the reason why our agenda has an item on strengthening accountability mechanisms on previous decisions.

As we continue to deliberate in this conference, we need to see how our ideas are able to contribute to the post-2015 development agenda and Africa's vision 2063. I also encourage you to see how these deliberations in health fit into the broader social, economic and environmental contexts and as a contributor to sustainable development.

I cannot end my speech without appreciating the significant support and contribution of WHO and other partners toward efforts aimed at fostering better health on this continent.

In conclusion, I wish to call upon all of you distinguished delegates to deliberate thoroughly on these agenda items and help this conference come up with favourable outcomes.

I thank you for your kind attention.



ORIGINAL: PORTUGUESE

ADDRESS BY THE WHO REGIONAL DIRECTOR, DR LUIS G. SAMBO, AT THE OPENING OF THE FIRST MEETING OF AFRICAN MINISTERS OF HEALTH JOINTLY CONVENED BY THE AUC AND WHO- LUANDA, 16 APRIL 2014

- His Excellency, Vice-President of the Republic of Angola, Eng. Manuel Domingos Vicente, representing the Head of State of Angola, Eng. José Eduardo Dos Santos;
- His Excellency, African Union Commissioner for Social Affairs;
- Honourable Minister of Health of the Federal Republic of Nigeria and Chair of the AU Conference of African Ministers of Health;
- Honourable Minister of Health of the Republic of Angola and 1st Vice-President of the World Health Assembly;
- Honourable Ministers of Health and Heads of Delegation of African countries;
- Honourable Members of the Government of Angola;
- Excellencies Ambassadors, Heads of Diplomatic Missions and Heads of Bilateral and Multilateral Cooperation Agencies accredited to Angola;
- Resident Coordinator of the United Nations System and Colleagues of United Nations Agencies;
- Distinguished Guests;
- Members of the Media;
- Ladies and Gentlemen;

It is with immense pleasure that I take the floor at this august assembly on behalf of the Director-General of the World Health Organization. First and foremost, I would like to pay my very respectful compliments to your Excellency Mr Vice-President of the Republic of Angola and to thank you for having graced this occasion with your distinguished presence.

Your Excellency Eng. Manuel Domingos Vicente, I would be grateful if you could convey my profound gratitude to His Excellency Eng. José Eduardo dos Santos, President of the Republic of Angola, for his leadership and effective support of this and other initiatives in favour of the health and well-being of the people of Africa.



To the different entities of the Government that contributed to the preparation of this event under the coordination of the Honourable Minister of Health, Dr José Van-Dúnem, I would like to say thank you for your proven diligence and performance.

The WHO Director-General, Dr Margaret Chan, who could not attend this meeting due to her other work commitments, has requested me to convey to the Government of Angola, and to the Minister of Health, her cordial greetings and her wish that this conference will achieve its objectives.

Honourable ministers and heads of delegation, delegates and experts, you are all welcome to this meeting, a historic meeting, as it is being held for the first time ever since the establishment of the African Union and the World Health Organization. The meeting is of great important, being held, as it is, in a context in which the African continent is accelerating its pace towards achieving economic and social development. Furthermore, I cannot but express my deep appreciation to the African Union Commissioner, in the person of Dr Mustapha Kaloko who has spared no effort to consolidate his working relations with WHO since the signing of the new agreement between AUC and WHO in July 2012. From the discussions that took place among experts over the past two days we could note that collaboration between the two institutions is becoming increasingly useful and helpful.

The meeting is taking place as a result of recommendations by the ministers of health, and endorsed by the Ordinary Assembly of Heads of State of the African Union last January. I am convinced that this new platform will generate new synergies among health development actors in Africa. Technical cooperation among African countries should enhance understanding of common public health problems and provide innovative and sustainable solutions so that we can, with greater optimism, face up to some of the complex challenges that continue, unfortunately, to undermine health service performance and the quality of health indicators in Africa.

We are highly encouraged and satisfied with the positive response of African governments to the invitation sent to them by the World Health Organization and the African Union Commission. More than 300 participants across the length and breadth of Africa have arrived in the Angolan capital for the meeting and I predict that it will be productive and will meet expectations.

Our meeting is taking place in a context in which we are making preparations to assess the achievement of the Millennium Development Goals in 2015; and what assessment can we make? During the past 10 years, average life expectancy at birth has increased in Africa from 51 years to 54. The average under-five mortality rate has dropped from 175 to 95 per 1000 live births. Maternal



mortality ratio has also declined from 820 to 480 deaths per 100 000 live births. We continue to witness a gradual reduction of the burden of communicable diseases but, at the same time, there is an increase in the burden of noncommunicable diseases. Health infrastructure in the majority of countries continues to require strengthening of its human, material and financial capacities in order to address the persisting weaknesses and attain Universal Health Coverage. Africa has certainly made progress but we must invest more and also work more and better so that we can move faster and more safely towards achieving the goals set by governments and international bodies.

With regard to public health emergencies in Africa, I would like to re-iterate the information already disseminated to the public on outbreak of an epidemic of Ebola virus haemorrhagic fever in West Africa, more specifically in the Republic of Guinea. The epidemic has now spread beyond borders to reach two other countries of the subregion. May I, on this occasion, express our profound regrets for the loss of 121 human lives including the lives of health workers in this outbreak. A total of 200 suspected cases have been recorded so far. WHO has issued an alert on the importance of epidemiological surveillance, public information and biosafety measures including strengthening of the quality of support laboratories. Although the epidemic is still rife, we are hopeful that it will be contained and overcome shortly and that we will be able to mitigate its adverse impact on human lives, travel, economies and international trade. May I commend the Ministers of Health of Guinea, Liberia and Mali and the health professionals of those countries for their courage in this battle. I would also like to encourage all ministers to strengthen their alert systems and implement the relevant provisions of the International Health Regulations.

At the international level, the immediate future will, once again, provide us an opportunity for sustainable development even beyond 2015. If it is true that new global health priorities should envision new public health challenges and threats, then the majority of African countries should, even after 2015, continue to work towards achieving the health goals set to be attained by 2015. That will be possible only by strengthening health infrastructure, which will mean increasing the production and qualification of health professionals, ensuring sustainable health services financing and providing access to essential health technologies to enable each citizen to access quality health care whenever needed without incurring any attendant catastrophic health expenditure.

In short, these are challenges that we should all address together; challenges that this meeting should address in detail.

- Excellency Vice-President,
- Your Excellencies,
- Distinguished Participants and Guests,



Our meeting will discuss various topics including Universal Health Coverage with special focus on equitable access to health care; African Medicines Agency aimed at enhancing the quality of local pharmaceutical production, controlling the quality of medicines and enhancing the access of the populations to essential medicines through an African regulatory authority that will, through networking, support national regulatory agencies in countries lacking institutional capacity in this area. Furthermore, the meeting will address the rising trend of noncommunicable diseases and the need to reduce the related risk factors such as tobacco use, harmful use of alcohol, physical inactivity and unhealthy dietary habits. This agenda item provides an opportunity to define and share an African position at the United Nations meeting scheduled to take place soon. Surely, we should not omit to mention the theme of maternal and child health, especially in terms of prevention of avoidable deaths.

In conclusion, I wish this historic meeting full success and may the deliberations result in concrete measures to promote the health development of the African populations.

I thank you for your attention.



ORIGINAL: PORTUGUESE

SPEECH DELIVERED BY THE VICE-PRESIDENT OF ANGOLA, ENGINEER MANUEL DOMINGOS VICENTE, AT THE OPENING CEREMONY OF THE 1st MEETING OF AFRICAN MINISTERS OF HEALTH – LUANDA, 16 APRIL 2014

His Excellency Mr Vice-President and Minister of Health of the Republic of Comoros, His Excellency Honourable Minister of Health of Angola, Honourable African Union Commissioner for Social Affairs, Distinguished WHO Regional Director for Africa, Honourable African Ministers of Health, Distinguished Guests, Ladies and Gentlemen,

It is with a mixture of pride and satisfaction that I affirm that this 16th day of April 2014 will go down in the annals of our continent and more specifically in the annals of Angola, because for the first time ever, the African Ministers of Health meeting is jointly organized by the AUC and WHO and the city of Luanda has been chosen to host this important event.

On behalf of His Excellency, the President of the Republic of Angola, Engineer José Eduardo dos Santos, whom I have the greatest honour to represent, permit me to thank both organizations for having made this choice, and to welcome all those who are visiting us for this event.

Excellencies,

To talk about health in Africa is to talk explicitly about the current situation of African peoples, and implicitly about the future that we desire for our future generations, for our health infrastructures, and for our entire continent.



As a Member State of the African Union and the World Health Organization, a country effectively at peace today, Angola acknowledges that the civil war created considerable delays in its development and caused massive destruction of hospitals; approximately one million deaths; thousands of mutilated people and orphans; millions of displaced people and refugees and was a dark chapter in the history of our public health.

With this bitter experience that benefited no one, we call on all participants at this meeting to act, so that together we can find a lasting solution to armed conflicts on our continent because they obviously cause irreversible human and economic losses.

Honourable ministers, Distinguished guests,

Our concern about the recurrence of epidemics and other public health emergencies in Africa should become a thing of the past with the conclusions of this meeting, given that we will leave with better defined strategies to change the current situation. We, in this room, have the technical capacity and the willingness to effect change that will guide us to chart the course together towards Universal Health Coverage in Africa.

With the knowledge that we have of our actual needs in the areas of human resources, training and medical services infrastructures we will succeed in identifying and defining the different steps required to implement or revitalize programmes to improve health care in Africa with local health teams, supported by partner countries who accept their role of sharing knowledge.

The basis for the success of these programmes is primary health care in peri-urban and rural areas, since the lack of these services forces populations to migrate in massive numbers to urban centres, causing and/or aggravating under-population of rural regions and increasing regional disparities.

In Angola, the national health development plan defined decentralization of health services financing as well as granting municipal autonomy in the management of these services, as the primary objective of moving increasingly closer to the reality of the user.

In 2014, as part of granting municipal authority to health services for HIV/AIDS prevention and control (an area in which Angola has continued to improve its sero-prevalence rate, now currently around 2%), the National Plan for the Elimination of Mother-to-Child Transmission will be finalized , and prevention of vertical transmission and antiretroviral treatment services will be integrated into the maternal health and primary health care programme.



The Angolan Government, by its own assessment, considers the decentralization and granting of municipal autonomy process as a positive move overall, but recognizes the need to improve monitoring. We believe this meeting is the ideal platform to share experiences that will help Angola and many other African countries to continue to improve their respective primary health care and health services.

Distinguished guests,

This is certainly the time, because Africa's economic growth requires that we also achieve sustainable social growth.

I repeat that it is the moment for us, as one, to demand more of ourselves as regards the safety and quality of the products we consume, in general, and in particular the quality of medicines since, as has been scientifically proven, the use of falsified medicines will lead us on a path of doom.

As practised in other parts of the world, and for the protection of our most valuable asset, in other words, "our citizens", it has become an urgent necessity to establish an African Medicines Agency whose mandate will be to monitor the quality of all medicines and diagnostic tools to be used on our continent, whether they are produced in Africa or are imported. The Angolan Government already pledges its unflinching support to this initiative.

Distinguished guests,

All of us gathered here in this room know that, in Africa, a "child" is considered "riches", a fruit bearing tree, a continuation of a legacy. Indeed, we will all agree without hesitation that the birth of a child is for us, Africans, a cause for celebration and joy. However, for various reasons, this special and unique moment in the life of a human being has also become a moment of fear, pain and grief in sub-Saharan Africa, and this situation continues with the poor maternal and child health indicators.

Last year, Angola recorded a maternal mortality rate of 450/100 000 live births, compared with 1400/100 000 in 2001, whereas the mortality rate for children under one year of age was 116/1000 live births compared with 150/1000 in 2001.

In addition, as regards child health, Angola has continued to be polio-free for the past 28 months, having consolidated the immunization of children under-five years with regular national vaccination campaigns as well as routine poliomyelitis immunization.



The improvement of maternal and infant mortality indicators in our Region is indeed a reality. However, our satisfaction will be manifested more enthusiastically only when avoidable deaths are eliminated from Africa.

Reversing the current scenario constitutes is therefore the main agenda for African governments as evidenced by the impressive attendance at this technical meeting.

Ladies and gentlemen,

On April 7 this year, World Health Day was commemorated under the theme "Vector-borne diseases: small bites, big threats", a theme of great importance, since in Angola as in other African countries, malaria continues to be a major cause of illness and death. This underscores the need for us to establish and implement intersectoral programmes, with concrete measures that will promote the prevention of diseases such as malaria, human African trypanosomiasis or sleeping sickness, river blindness (onchocerciasis), bilharzia, elephantiasis, leishmaniasis, yellow fever and dengue.

I would also like to mention the decision taken at the last African Heads of State Summit to establish an African Centre for Disease Control and Prevention, which will ensure joint action between several centres of excellence in African countries and beyond. Permit me, your Excellencies, to take the opportunity here, at this august assembly, to publicly announce that Angola is interested in hosting this important institution.

In conclusion, I know that several praises have been expressed about the organization of this ministerial meeting but I expect that the deliberations of the various sessions will be productive and will come out with objective results that will promote better health, leading to increased human and economic development and greater equity.

Thank you for your attention.



8. LIST OF PARTICIPANTS

FIRST MEETING OF AFRICAN MINISTERS OF HEALTH, JOINTLY CONVENED BY THE AUC AND WHO LUANDA, REPUBLIC OF ANGOLA, 14 - 17 APRIL 2014

I. REPRESENTATIVE OF MEMBER STATES

ALGERIA

Prof. Larbi Abid Directeur général des Structures de Santé *Chef de délégation – Head of delegation*

Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Mr Ramdane Brahiti Sous-Directeur de la Coopération

Mrs Amina Mahiddine Chargée d'Étude et de synthèse

ANGOLA

Dr J. Vieira Dias Van-Dúnem Minister of Health Chef de délégation – Head of delegation

Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Dra Adelaide de Carvalho National Director

Dr Augusto Rosa Neto Director Délégué(s) – Delegate(s)

Mr Manuel Augusto Secretary of State of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs

Dr Carlos Masseca Secretary of State of Health

Dr Boaventura Moura DNME

Dr C. Voumard Dr Mateus Fernandes

Dr Manuel Caetano

Dr Miguel Dos Santos Oliveira IGS

Dra Helga Dos Reis Freitas CPS Dra Filomena Gomes e Silva INSP

Dr Daniel Antonio GEPE



Dra Ducelina Serrano INLS

Dr Antonio Costa

Dr Rui Xavier Mirex

Vanda Lopes Bete SPA

BENIN

Pr D.A. Kinde-Gazard Minister of Health *Chef de délégation – Head of delegation*

Expert(s) – Expert(s)

Dr Evelyne Akinocho Conseiller Technique

Dr Edmond Sossa Gbedo Conseiller Technique

BURKINA FASO

Mr Lene Segbo Minister of Health Chef de délégation – Head of delegation

Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Mr Sambo Paul Nikiema Conseiller Technique

Dr Sylvain Dipama Directeur général

BURUNDI

Dr Sabine Ntakarutimana Minister of Health *Chef de délégation – Head of delegation*

Expert(s) – Expert(s)

Dr Liboire Ngirigi Directeur général

Dr Josiane Nijimbere Directeur Adjoint

CAMEROON

Mr André Mama Fouda Minister of Health *Chef de délégation – Head of delegation*

Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Pr Robinson Mbu

G. Alain Etoundi Mballa

CAPE VERDE

Dra Mecilde Costa Inspectora General de Saude Chef de délégation – Head of delegation

Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Dr Tomas Valdez Director da Regiao Sanitaria



CHAD

Dr Ngariera Rimadjita Minister of Health *Chef de délégation – Head of delegation*

Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Dr Rohingalaou Ndoundo Directeur général

Mr Djedossoum Naoundangar Coordonnateur

COMOROS

Dr Fouad Mohadji Vice-Président Chef de délégation – Head of delegation

Expert(s) – Expert(s)

Dr Younoussa Assoumani

Dr Said Ali Abdelkader

CONGO

Mr François Ibovi Minister of Health *Chef de délégation – Head of delegation*

Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Dr Alexis Elira Dokekias Directeur général de la Santé

Dr Patrice Ondongo

Délégué(s) – Delegate(s)

Mr Roger Emmanuel Oba

Mr Severin R. Ndzorobe

CÔTE D'IVOIRE

Dr Raymonde G. Coffie Minister of Health *Chef de délégation – Head of delegation*

Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Dr Edith Clarisse Kouassi

Dr Germaine O. Suiguifota

DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF CONGO

Dr F. K. Numbi Mukwampa Minister of Health *Chef de délégation – Head of delegation*

Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Prof Faustin M. Chenge Directeur de Cabinet Adjoint

Mr Kakez Kayombo Fonctionnaire

Délégué(s) – Delegate(s)

Mr Eloi Mukaba Conseiller

Dr Mukengeshayi Kupa Secrétaire général



DJIBOUTI

Mr Ali Sillaye Abdallah Secretary General Chef de délégation – Head of delegation

Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Dr Abdillahi Youssouf Nour Inspecteur

Mrs Nimah Osman Iltireh Cadre financier

EQUATORIAL GUINEA

Dr D. V. Nsue Milang Minister of Health *Chef de délégation – Head of delegation*

Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Dr Florentino Abaya ondo Ndoho Directeur général

Mr Alberto Esimi Abege Directeur général

Délégué(s) – Delegate(s) Dr Valero Ondo Nguema Directeur général

Dr Camilo Ela Ela Obono

ERITREA

Mrs Amina Nurhussien Minister of Health Chef de délégation – Head of delegation Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Dr Andeberhan Tesfazion

ETHIOPIA

Dr Amir Aman Hagos Minister of Health *Chef de délégation – Head of delegation*

Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Mr Yehulu Denekew Dr Merawi Aragaw Advisor

GABON

Prof. F. Mengué M'Engouang Minister of Health *Chef de délégation – Head of delegation*

Expert(s) – Expert(s)

Dr Julienne Atsame

Dr Médard Toung Mvé

Délégué(s) – Delegate(s)

Mr Jean Philippe Mba

GAMBIA

Dr Omar Sey Minister of Health Chef de délégation – Head of delegation



Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Mrs Ramatoulie Sarr Deputy Permanent Secretary

Mr Dawda Ceesay Deputy Permanent Secretary

GHANA

Ms Sherry Ayittey Minister of Health Chef de délégation – Head of delegation

Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Mr Nathaniel Nii Kwei Kuma Otoo Deputy Chief Executive

GUINEA

Dr Mohamed Lamine Yansané Conseiller du Ministre Chef de délégation – Head of delegation

KENYA

Dr Francis Kimani Director Chef de délégation – Head of delegation

Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Dr Isaac Mwangi Kamani Office of Director

Dr Isabella Ayagah

LESOTHO

Dr Pinkie R. Manamolela Minister of Health *Chef de délégation – Head of delegation*

Expert(s) – Expert(s)

Mr Lefu Manyokole Principal Secretary

Mrs Makali Maguana

Délégué(s) – Delegate

Dr Kabelo Mputsoe Manager

LIBERIA

Mr Yah M. Zolia Deputy Minister *Chef de délégation – Head of delegation*

Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Dr Saye D. Baawo

Mr David Sumo

LYBIA

Dr Mohamed Elhemmali Doctor Chef de délégation – Head of delegation

Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Dr Badereddin Alnnajar



Dr Mohamed Aboghalia Health Expert

Délégué(s) – Delegate

Dr Ismail Mohamed Esker Doctor

Mr Abdulbaset Alkawash Employee

Mr Saif Elnasser Elbernawi Employee

MADAGASCAR

Dr H. Ramihantaniarivo Directeur général *Chef de délégation – Head of delegation*

MALAWI

Mr Chikumbutso Hiwa Deputy Minister Chef de délégation – Head of delegation

Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Dr Storn Kabuluzi

Dr Dalitso Kabambe

MALI

Mr Mohamed Youssouf Haidara Chargé d'Affaires Chef de délégation – Head of delegation Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Dr Binta Keïta Directrice National de Santé

Dr Lamine Diarra Conseiller Technique

Délégué(s) – Delegate

Dr Bokar Toure

MAURITANIA

Mr Ahmedou Ould Hademine O.J Minister of Health Chef de délégation – Head of delegation

Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Dr Abderrahmane Ould Jiddou Directeur

Dr Niang Saidou Doro Directeur

MAURITIUS

Dr Maryam Timol Director of Health Services Chef de délégation – Head of delegation

Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Mrs Bibi F. Abdool R. Ahmed Deputy Permanent Secretary



MOROCCO¹

Amb Sidati El Ghallaoui Ambassadeur Chef de délégation – Head of delegation

Expert(s) – Expert(s)

Mr Abdelaziz Zguiouar Chief de Division

Mr Hassan Amelloul

MOZAMBIQUE

Dr Alexandre Manguele Minister of Health Chef de délégation – Head of delegation

Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Dr Lidia Chongo

Dr E. Samo Gudo Junior

NAMIBIA

Dr Richard Kamwi Minister of Health *Chef de délégation – Head of delegation* Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Dr Faral Mavhunga Special Programme

Ms Maria Kavezembi Health Director

Délégué(s) – Delegate

Mr Gaeseb

Ms Ngotipeni Tabitha Private Secretary

NIGER

Mr Mano Aghali Minister of Health Chef de délégation – Head of delegation

Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Dr Souley Ibrahim Directeur général

Dr Ranaou Abaché

NIGERIA

Prof Christian Chukwu Minister of Health *Chef de délégation – Head of delegation*

¹ Invited by WHO



Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Mrs Ansa B. Ogu Director, Health PRS

Dr Bridget Okoeguale Director, Public Health

Délégué(s) – Delegate

Dr Paul Orhii Director-General, NAFDAC

Dr Anthony Usoro Director, Family Health

Abdullahi Mohammed Jibril Director

Mrs Agalasi Esther Ehigie Deputy Director,

Dr Ado Mohammed Executive Director

Dr A. Nasidi Project Director

Dr Femi Thomas Executive Secretary

Dr Kayode Afolabi

Chinedu Edwin Chukwu Principal Health Research

Dr Akin Oyemakinde Chief Consultant

Dr Oko Inyang Senior Special Assistant Pharm. Sani Bello Technical Assistant

Dr Thomas Adeoye Ag. General Manager

Dr Amamatu Yusuf DGM (Informal Sector/NHIS)

Mohammed Mohammed A. Technical Assistant

Mrs Maureen Aneke Journalist

Mr Dan Nwomeh Senior Assistant, Media and Communication

Mrs C.F. Danisa FMOH Cameraman

Ms Anna Angbazo Mazhe News Agency of Nigeria

Mustapha Rashidat NTA Correspondent

Mr Chukwuma Muanya Guardian Newspaper

RWANDA

Dr Agnès Binagwaho Minister of Health *Chef de délégation – Head of delegation*

Expert(s) – Expert(s)

Dr Theophile Dushime Director-General



SAHAWI ARAB DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC¹

Mr Mohamed Lamine Daddi Minister of Health Chef de délégation – Head of delegation

Expert(s) – Expert(s)

Dr Mr. Lehbib Abderahman

Ms Belali Labiad Mahyuba

Délégué(s) – Delegate

Dr Nicolas D. Alejandro Assesor do Ministro

SAO TOME AND PRINCIPE

Dr Maria T. F. D'Araujo Minister of Health Chef de délégation – Head of delegation

Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Dr Eduardo M.C. Neto Medico

Dra Manuela F. Da Costa Medica

SENEGAL

Dr Mactar Camara Conseiller *Chef de délégation – Head of delegation* Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Dr Bambi Sylla

SEYCHELLES

Mrs Mitcy Larue Minister of Health Chef de délégation – Head of delegation

Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Dr Bernard Valentin

Mrs Beryl Camille

SOMALIA

Dr Ahmed Aden Ahmed Deputy Minister of Health *Chef de délégation – Head of delegation*

Expert(s) – Expert(s)

Dr Mohamed Abdi Hassan

Dr Abdi Awad Ibrahim

SOUTH AFRICA

Dr YG Pillay Chef de délégation – Head of delegation



¹ Invited by AUC

Expert(s) – Expert(s)

Mr M Hlakudi

Dr TA Pillay Délégué(s) – Delegate

Dr P Holele

Ms TG Mnisi

Ms HL Mangate

SOUTH SUDAN

Dr Riek Gai Kok Minister of Health Chef de délégation – Head of delegation

Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Dr Makur Kariom

Dr Richard Lako

Délégué(s) – Delegate

Dr Moses Deng Maluai

SUDAN

Dr Imadeldin Ahmed Mohamed Chef de délégation – Head of delegation

SWAZILAND

Ms S. Ndlela-Simelane Minister of Health Chef de délégation – Head of delegation Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Dr S.V. Magagula

Dr Malinga Bongiwe

TOGO

Pr Gado A. Napo-Koupa Secrétaire general *Chef de délégation – Head of delegation*

Expert(s) – Expert(s)

Dr Agoudavi Kokou Chef de Programme

Dr N'Tapi T. Kassouta Directeur, Santé de la Famille

TUNISIA

Dr Mohamed S. B. Ammar Minister of Health *Chef de délégation – Head of delegation*

Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Dr Riadh Ben Abbes Chargé de mission

Dr Sonia Ben Cheikh Directeur de la Coopération

Délégué(s) – Delegate

Dr Khaled Nabli Médecin

Dr Othmane Sebai Médecin

Dr Sami Ben Bouzid PDG Clinique



Mr Hassen Fouad Ellouze PDG Société Clynisis

Mr Kammoun Nabil Opticien Optometriste

Mr Khaled Sellami Directeur général

UGANDA

Ms Sarah A. Opendi Minister of Health *Chef de délégation – Head of delegation*

Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Dr Jane Ruth Aceng

Dr Timothy Musila

Délégué(s) – Delegate

Dr Mwenyango Irene

UNITED REPUBLIC OF TANZANIA

Dr Seif Rashid Minister of Health (Tanzania) Chef de délégation – Head of delegation

Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Mr Juma Duni Haji Minister of Health (Zanzibar)

Dr Mohamed Mohamed Director

Délégué(s) – Delegate

Hiiti Sillo Director

Martin E. Elias Personal Assistant

Dr Mahamed Dahoma

Mr Mussa Abeid Mussa

Dr Koheleth Winani Coordinator

ZAMBIA

Dr Chilufya Chitalu Minister of Health *Chef de délégation – Head of delegation*

Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Dr Malama Contantine Senior Officer

Mr Mwambazi Wesleykapaya Senior Officer

Délégué(s) – Delegate

Nsofu Mwila Media Personnel

Chama Henrymumba Media Personnel



ZIMBABWE

Dr P.D. Parirenyatwa Minister of Health *Chef de délégation – Head of delegation*

Expert(s) - Expert(s)

Dr G. Mhlanga Principal Director

Ms R. Hove Director

II. OBSERVERS

1. UN AGENCIES

UNFPA ESARO

Ms Kourtoum Nacro

Dr Hirondina Cucubica

UNFPA WCARO

Representated by UNFPA ESARO

UNICEF ESARO/WCARO

Dr Francisco Ferreira

UNICEF WCARO

Dr Olivio Gambo

UNDP

Maria do Valle Ribeiro

2. PARTNERS

CDC

Dr Thomas Kenyon Dr Samuel Adeniyi-Jones

JICA

Mr Akihiko Yamada

Ms Neusa M. Suka

Ms Kayo Omachi

Ms Paula Risa Tomaru

NORAD

Ms Bjorg Sandkjaer

USAID

Dr Gisele Guimaraes

Stop AIDS Alliance

Arben Fetai

RBM

Dr Fatoumata Nafo-Traoré Dr Adja Caroline N'Diaye



AfDB

Mr Septime Martin

Dr Ibrahim Sanogo

ALMA

Dr Halima Mwenesi

GLOBAL FUND

Mr Linden Morrison

US-FDA

Mr Steven Smith

3. REC

CEEAC

Mr Ahmad Allam-Mi Mr Crispin Jaime Sangalé Mr Jean Claude Loukaka

OCEAC

Dr Constant R. Ayenengoye

ECSA-HC

Dr Stephen Muleshe



